IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND BRIGHT,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO.: SC09-2164

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of eleven volumes. Volumes 1 through 7 contain the lower court's records, pleadings and transcripts of court proceedings including the penalty phase, the Spencer hearing and the sentencing. References to these volumes will be with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page numbers. Volumes 8 through 11 contain the transcript of the jury trial beginning with jury selection through the guilt phase. These volumes will be referenced with the prefix "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress Of The Case

A Duval County grand jury indicted Raymond Bright on two counts of first degree murder on April 24, 2008. (R1:19-20) The indictment replaced an information the State previously filed on March 7, 2008, charging two counts of second degree murder. (R1:8-9) Allegations in the indictment were that Bright killed Derrick King (Count I) and Randall Brown (Count II) between February 18 and 19, 2008, by hitting them with a hammer. (R1:19-20) proceeded to a jury trial. (T8:1 - T11:795) The jury found Bright guilty as charged on both counts of the indictment on August 26, 2009. (R2:333-336; T11:788-789) On September 1, 2009, the penalty phase of the trial was held before the same jury. (R5:812-R6:1039) The jury recommended death sentences for each murder by a vote of 8 to 4. (R3: 520-521; R6:1032) Additional evidence was presented at a Spencer hearing held on October 6th (R5:743-811) and October 15, 2009.(R7:1179-1208) A pre-sentence investigation report was submitted to the court. (R4:2) The State and the Defense filed sentencing memoranda. (R4:578-609, 680-700) The courts accepted an affidavit of an additional defense witness offered on November 6, 2009. (R4:2, 701-703)

On November 19, 2009, Circuit Judge Charles W. Arnold adjudged Bright guilty and sentenced him to death on each of the two murder

counts. (R4:710-732; R6:1053-1059) The court entered a single sentencing order covering the findings for the two death sentences. (R4:710-732)(Appendix) As aggravating circumstances, the court found: (1) Bright had a previous conviction for a capital or felony involving violence pursuant to Section 921.141(5)(b) Florida Statutes based on a robbery conviction in 1990. (given great weight)(R4:714-715); (2) Bright had a previous conviction for a felony involving violence pursuant to Section 921.141(5)(b) Florida Statutes based contemporaneous murder convictions in this case. (given great weight)(R4:715); and (3) each of the homicides was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel pursuant to Section 921.141(5)(h) Florida Statutes. (given great weight) (R4:715-717) In mitigation, the court found one statutory mitigating circumstance pursuant to Section 921.141 (6)(b) Florida Statute that the capital felony was committed while Bright was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (given some weight).(R4:718-719) As non-statutory mitigation, the court found as follows:

- 1. Bright has a long and well documented history of drug abuse (given some weight). (R4:720-721)
- 2. Bright repeatedly sought help for his problems (given some weight).(R4:721)

- 3. Bright's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (not proven, given no weight). (R4:721-722)
 4. Bright is remorseful for his actions (little weight). (R4:722-723)
- 5. Bright provided information that helped the resolution of the case (not proven, given no weight). (R4:723)
- 6. Bright was afraid of the victims and took steps to get them out of his house (given little weight). (R4:723-724)
- 7. Bright served ten years in the United States Marine Corps(USMC) with two honorable discharges and a third discharge under honorable circumstances (given considerable weight). (R4:724)
- 8. Bright has skills as a mechanic and served as an aviation mechanic in the military (given some weight). (R4:724-725)
- 9. Bright's actions as a USMC aviation mechanic most likely saved lives (some weight). (R4:725)
- 10. Bright mentored young mechanics (some weight). (R4:725)
- 11. Bright was a good employee (some weight). (R4:725-726)
- 12. Bright was a loving, caring, and giving boyfriend (slight weight). (R4:726)
- 13. Bright is a good brother (some weight). (R4:726)
- 14. Bright is a good father and a sentence of death would have serious negative impact on others (slight weight). (R4:727)

- 15. Bright shares love and support with his family (slight weight). (R4:727)
- 16. Bright has attempted to have a positive influence on family members, despite his incarceration (not proven, given no weight). (R4:727-728)
- 17. Bright was a good friend (slight weight). (R4:728)
- 18. Bright has been an exceptional inmate (some weight).(R4:728)
- 19. Bright exhibited good and mannerly behavior throughout the court proceedings (slight weight). (R4:728-729)
- 20. Bright maintained gainful employment (considerable weight). (R4:729)
- 21. Bright is amenable to rehabilitation and a productive life in prison (slight weight). (R4:729)
- 22. Bright bonded with another inmate and taught him to read (slight weight). (R4:729)

Bright filed his notice of appeal to this Court on November 11, 2009. (R6:1040)

The Prosecution's Case

On Monday, February 18, 2008, Carrie Brown returned to her home in Jacksonville from a weekend trip. (T9:316317) She allowed her 16-year-old son, Randall Brown, to use the rental car that evening. (T9:318) He left between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m. (T9:318) Carrie Brown spoke with Randall by cell phone around 11:00 p.m.,

and he said he was coming home. (T9:319) Randall did not come home. (T9:319) Her efforts to find him were unsuccessful, and she called his best friend, Michael Majors, the next morning. (T9:320)

Michael Majors had been at Raymond Bright's house with Randall Brown and Derrick King during the evening of February 18, 2008. (T9:322-327) Majors usually went to the house to visit Lavelle Copeland, but he was in jail. (T9:327-328) Copeland and King lived at the house with Raymond Bright. (T9:326-327) When Majors arrived, King and Bright were sitting at the table playing chess. (T9:327) Majors made a trip to McDonald's, and when he returned, Randall Brown had arrived. (T9:328) Bright appeared to have been smoking crack since he had a stem in front of him. (T9:329) King was sitting on the couch. (T3:329) Although Majors had been to the house a few times to visit Copeland, this was the first time he had been there when Bright was also at home. (T9:329-330) Majors and Brown left the house around 8:00 p.m. (T9:330) Brown was dropped at his house. (T9:331) Majors usually called Brown every morning, but he could not reach him the next morning. (T9:331-332) Majors spoke to Brown's mother and learned that she was looking for him. (T9:332) Majors had his cousin drive him to Bright's house. The rental car was outside. (T3:333) When no one answered the door, Majors went inside the house through a bathroom window.

(T9:332-334) Inside, he picked up a candleholder to use as protection since he did not know what to expect. (T9:335) He went through the house, and found Brown and King dead in the living room. (T9:335-336) Majors called the police and Brown's mother. (T9:337-341)

Officer Christopher Robinson arrived at the house at about 1:50 p.m. (T9:346-347) He entered the residence through an open back door. (T9:348) There was blood on a wall, and he found one body on the floor and a second one in a chair. (T9:348-350) Rescue personnel arrived and determined that both individuals inside were dead. (T9:349-350)

Dr. Margarita Arruza performed an autopsy on Randall Brown. (T9:366, 368-385) She concluded Brown's death was a homicide and caused by blunt head trauma. (T9:368) Most of the injuries were to the top and side of the head. (T9:369) Arruza found fourteen injuries as well as brain injuries caused by skull fractures. (T9:370-377, 378-382) There were also abrasions and contusions to the arms and hands. (T9:370-377) The injuries to the head were consistent with the blows to the head with a hammer. (T9:382) The wounds to the arms and hands could have been defensive wounds, but they also could have been caused if the victim was the aggressor and he received them as his attack was repelled. (T9:381-382, 386-388) The wounds were consistent with a struggle. (T9:384, 386-388)

Drug and alcohol screening determined that Brown did not have alcohol or drugs in his system. (T9:384-385)

Dr. Eugene Scheuerman performed the autopsy on Derrick King. (T9:390, 393-T10:419) Scheuerman concluded King's death was homicide due to blunt head trauma.(T9:393) The examination revealed 38 wounds all over the head with most injuries to the front and left side. (T9:394-T10:406) The fatal wounds included fractures to the skull. (T10:410-411) These wounds could have been inflicted with a hammer. (T10:412-414) Additionally, there were 20 wounds to the hands and arms. (T10:406-409, 415) The hand arm wounds were consistent with defensive wounds, but they could have occurred for different reasons. (T10:409) Scheuerman testified the wounds to the arms, hands and abrasions to the knees were consistent with a struggle. (T10:423-424) Toxicology testing showed no alcohol, but traces of cocaine and marijuana were present in King's system. (T10:415-416, 419-420) Because of the rate that cocaine metabolizes, Scheuerman concluded the cocaine use would have been recent to the time of death. (T10:416)

Crime scene investigators processed the house and yard including photographing and collecting various items as possible evidence. (T10:435-508) Among the items found in the yard were an AK-47 assault rifle and a Smith & Wesson 9mm pistol with a loaded magazine. (T10:443-446) These firearms were covered in the heavy

layer of leaves on the property. (T10:443-446) A hammer, a pair of mechanic's gloves, a candleholder and some rope were found in the (T10:441-447,494-496) Inside the house, investigators yard. photographed the bodies, the blood found around the bodies, on various items and on the wall. (T10: 448-457, 463-470) was processed for possible fingerprints and DNA evidence. (T10:448latent fingerprints suitable for comparison were 457) (T509-514) The State and Defense stipulated that recovered. suspected blood on the hammer contained a DNA profile mixture consistent with the DNA of Brown and King. (R2:340; T109:508) A stipulation was also entered that the gloves did not have any blood on them. (R2:338; T11:639) Among items found in the house were a pair of shoes with some marijuana and money inside.(T10:457-458; T11:652) On a table were some money, a scale and a piece of a wire hanger typically used to pack drugs into a pipe or bong. (T10:460, A bullet projectile was found in the lower-left front door 501) frame 15 inches from the floor. (T10: 471-472, 502-503) carpet in the room was an area of suspected gunshot residue. (T10: Additionally, there was a bullet hole through a chair 9 ½ inches from the floor. (T10:503) A possible bullet trajectory was established from the carpet area through the chair and into the door frame. (T10: 502-503) The trajectory would have the firearm

being fired from a location just inches above the floor. (T10:484, 502-503)

Bridget Bright was married to Raymond Bright for ten years, separating in December of 2005, and finally divorcing in January 2007. (T10:514- 516) During the two months preceding Raymond's arrest, the two of them spoke more frequently. (T10:530) weekend before Raymond's arrest, Bridget had been to Raymond's house to move a washer and dryer. (T10:522) She saw a person she knew as Alexander King, and she said he looked "scary." (T10:522) On the morning of Tuesday, February 19, 2008, Raymond called Bridget and asked her pick him up at a church not far from his house. (T10:517) Meeting him at a location away from his house was not unusual. (T10:521) She met Raymond at 7:30 a.m. and drove him to her residence. (T10:518) Raymond had blood on his clothes, and Bridget threw the clothes away. (T10:518-519) Bridget drove Raymond to Asbell Truck Center where he used to work. (T10:519) At 1:45 a.m. the next morning, Wednesday, February 20th, the police came to Bridget's house and arrested Raymond. (T10:519-520, 574-577) Bridget stated that she and Raymond had already arranged to meet an attorney the next morning to go to the police. (T10:523-526) Detective Dan Janson participated in the arrest, and the next day, he made an unsuccessful effort to located the blood stained clothes. (T10:541-549)

Benjamin Lundy worked with Raymond Bright at Asbell Truck Center, a truck dealership. (T10:558-558) Lundy was the service writer and Bright was a mechanic and shop foreman. (T10:558-559, 566) They had been friends since Bright started working there in 2003. (T10:565-566) Bright was excellent at his job, and Lundy described him as an outstanding person who was always ready to help someone. (T10:566)

Bright stopped working at the dealership in January 2008. (T10:559) On February 19, 2008, Bright came to the dealership to talk to Lundy. (T10:559-560) His ex-wife, Bridget Bright, drove Lundy related what he recalled of the him there. (T10:560) conversation. (T10:561) Bright told Lundy that he had "screwed up," and he thought he had killed two individuals. (T10:561) had been renting his house from him and they were doing some improper things in the house. (T10:561) Bright awoke in the middle of the night to get a drink, and he saw that the two were in the living room and the television was playing. (T10:561) They were asleep, one was on the couch and the other on a chair. (T10:562) Bright walked into the room, and one of them awoke and accused him of stealing their drugs. (T10:561-562) They argued, and the second person awoke, as someone pulled a gun. (T10:563) the struggle, the gun discharged, and Bright ended up with the gun. (T10:563) He tried to use the gun, but it would not fire.

(T10:563) Bright tried to leave the house, but he tripped, and fell near a hammer that had been left out. (T10:563) When he stood the men managed to grab the gun back one of from up, Bright.(T10:563) Bright hit him with the hammer. (T10:563) also hit the second man when he tried to get the gun. (T10:563) Bright was unclear what happened, but he knew he hit the men when they moved. (T10:563) Bright also realized that he was covered with blood. (T10:564) Bright asked Lundy for advice, and he said that he had made arrangements to see a lawyer the next day to turn himself in to law enforcement. (T10:567, 572) Apparently, Bright was arrested before he could see the lawyer. (T10:567) Since the whole event seemed out of character for Bright, Lundy was unsure about Bright's story. (T10:566-567) He later drove by Bright's house and saw the police cars. (T10:564-565, 571)

Mickey Graham was in jail on drug charges when Raymond Bright arrived at the jail after his arrest. (T10:580-581, 591) They already knew each other and resumed a friendship in jail. (T10:580-581) Before testifying in this case, Graham was also arrested on a robbery charge. (T10:590) During conversations over time, Bright told Graham about his charges and the events surrounding the homicides. (T10:581) Bright returned home from dinner and began drinking liquor. (T10:582) He got up for more ice for his drink

about 2:00 a.m. (T10:582) There were two young men staying at his house, and Bright referred to them as the younger one and the older one. (T10:582) The older one was on the couch sleeping and the younger one was sitting in the chair. (T10:582) The younger one frequently had the gun in his hand waving it around. (T10:583) older one awoke, saw the younger one with the gun and took it away from him. (T10:583-584) He told the younger one not to wave the qun around. (T10:584) Bright had felt threatened because these young men had guns in the house. (T10:598) He also wanted them out of his house because they were cooking crack and selling it out of his house. (T10:599-600) As the older one took possession of the gun, Bright saw it as a chance to take the gun from the older one. (T10:584) As they struggled over the gun, Bright placed his hand over the slide of the pistol to keep the gun from being fired. (T10:585) However, the gun discharged. (T10:585) startled, the older one released the gun, and Bright took possession of the firearm. (T10:585) Bright tried to fire the pistol, but it did not fire. (T10:585) He dropped the gun and started to run out of the house. (T10:586) He tripped and fell. There was a hammer available and he picked it up. (T10:586) (T10:586) When he got up, Bright started swinging the hammer. He backed the older one back to the living room toward (T10:586) the couch. (T10:586) The younger one was trying to pick the gun up from the floor. (T10:587) Bright hit the younger one with the hammer. (T10:587) Bright then noticed the older one, now on the couch, starting to reach under the couch where Bright knew there was an AK-47. (T10:587) He again struck the older one with the hammer. (T10:587) After this confrontation, Bright sat down because he thought he was having a heart attack. (T10:588) He remembered hearing the breathing sounds, and then silence. (T10:589) Bright said that he "lost it" when he began hitting the young men. (T10:589) Bright threw the pistol and rifle out through a bathroom window, and he buried the hammer in the backyard. (T10:589) Graham admitted that he went to his lawyer with this information to seek favorable treatment in his pending cases. (T10:593-596)

David Warniment, a firearms expert with FDLE, testified about his examination of the 9mm pistol recovered as evidence in this case. (T11:610- 630) Items submitted to him for evaluation included a 9mm Smith & Wesson semiautomatic pistol, a fired 9mm bullet, a fired 9mm cartridge case, 16 unfired 9mm cartridges and a piece of carpet. (T11:614-615) The firearm was in normal working condition, and the unfired cartridges were from the pistol's magazine. (T11:615-619) Although the pistol worked properly and did not misfire during testing, Warniment did state that a misfire could occur if someone held the pistol on the slide mechanism at

the time of a shot and thereby prevented the slide from operating to eject the fired casing and reload an unfired cartridge. (T11:628-629) The slide would have to be operated manually to clear the fired cartridge casing and reload a new cartridge before the pistol would again fire. (T11:629) A comparison of the fired cartridge casing submitted to a test fired casing resulted in Warniment's conclusion that the casing was fired from the 9mm pistol. (T11:620-621) After an examination of the fired bullet projectile submitted, Warniment concluded that the bullet was fired from the 9mm pistol. (T11:621-622) Warniment found gunshot residue on the section of carpet submitted. (T11:622-625) concluded, after testing the firearm, that the 9mm pistol would have been within three to six inches away from the carpet surface at the time fired in order to leave the gunshot residue. (T11:625-Additionally, he testified that the person shooting the firearm would not necessarily have gunshot residue his hands. The State and the Defense stipulated that gunshot (T11:627)residue was not found on the hands of Randall Brown or Derrick King. (T11:610-611)

The Defense Case

Janice Jones, Raymond Bright's younger sister, testified that Bright was 55 years-old at the time of trial. (T11:645) She was

also present when Bright enlisted in the United States Marine Corps. (T11:645)

Michael Bossen is an attorney in private practice in Jacksonville. (T11:649-650) He testified that Raymond and Bridget Bright contacted him on February 19, 2008. (T11:650)

Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase of the trial, the State presented Sergeant Robert Bell of the Pensacola Police Department who testified to observing a robbery in 1989, and arresting Bright for the offense. (R5:826-831) The defense stipulated that Bright was convicted of robbery on January 2, 1990, in Pensacola. (R5:831) A total of six victim impact witnesses testified. (R5:832-853) Randall Brown's mother, aunt and sister read prepared statements. (R5:832, 835, 839) Derrick King's grandmother, cousin and sister presented prepared statements. (R5:843, 847, 849) The prosecution presented no additional witnesses. (R5:853)

Several witnesses testified for the defense. (R5:854- R6:955) Employers, co-workers and friends testified about Bright's work history and character. Information about Bright's nine years of exemplary service in the Marines was presented. A former girlfriend and family members testified about his kind generous nature and his long battle with alcohol and drug addiction.

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