IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND BRIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-2164

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 906336

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

These things he has not seen fit to take the stand and deny or explain. And in the whole world, if anybody would know, this defendant would know. Essie Mae is dead, she can't tell you her side of the story. The defendant won't.

Griffin, 380 U.S. at 611, 85 S.Ct. at 1231.

⁷After noting in closing argument several questions the evidence raised to which the defendant "would know" the answer, the prosecutor in *Griffin* stated the following:

remain silent. The State responded that the evidence would show that Dessaure had told a fellow inmate "there [are] only two people that know, her and me." In fact, the fellow inmate did testify that Dessaure had told him, "Don't nobody know what happened but him and her." Id. at 465.

This Court held that the trial court did not err in denying Dessaure's motion for mistrial, calling the prosecutor's statement "a fair characterization of the evidence that was presented at trial." *Id.* at 466. This Court also noted that the trial court had issued the following instruction before opening statements:

> In every criminal proceeding, a Defendant has an absolute right to remain silent. At no time is it the duty of the Defendant to prove that he is innocent. From the exercise of the Defendant's right, you are not permitted to draw any inference of guilt and the fact that the Defendant did not take the stand to testify must not influence your decision in any way.

Id. This Court also noted that the comments were made during opening statements and not closing argument; they were not repeated in closing argument; and the statement was made in passing. Id.

The prosecutorial comment here was similar to the one in *Dessaure*; in fact it was less susceptible of interpretation as a comment on the right not to testify than the comment in *Dessaure*. A review of the comment in its context verifies the

prosecutor's explanation that it was a comment on the evidence. See State v. Jones, 867 So.2d 398 (Fla. 2004)(holding that the prosecutor's actions must be evaluated in context rather than challenged statement in isolation). focusing on the The prosecutor was specifically speaking about Bright's statement to Mickey Graham, that although he had composed a story for his family and friends about what happened with Brown and King, he could not admit to them that it was a planned killing. The prosecutor's point was that this statement did not establish that the killing was unplanned, because Bright would never admit to a planned killing, even to his friends. While the prosecutor did use the word "you" in the challenged statement, it did appear that she was referring to the family and friends, and may in fact have corrected herself with the second sentence of the disputed comment. Again, the argument was a fair comment on the evidence and in no way a comment on Bright's failure to testify.

Moreover, the same cautionary instruction about the defendant's right to remain silent and the admonition to the jury not to draw any inference of guilt to the fact that the defendant did not take the stand that was read in *Dessaure* was read in this case as well (IX 284). And while the comment was made during closing argument, it was not repeated and was "made in passing," as in *Dessaure*.

While the State asserts that the prosecutor's comment was not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on Bright's choice not to testify, comments that have been viewed as improper, but were more inflammatory than the comment here, have been held not to warrant a mistrial. See Smith v. State, 7 So.3d 473, 509 (Fla. 2009)(holding that prosecutor's comment "nobody knows better, who killed Leon Hadley, than Mr. Smith," while improper, did not merit mistrial, because it was an "isolated comment" that "was not so prejudicial as to require reversal"); Poole v. State, 997 So.2d 382, 390-391 (Fla. 2008) (holding that prosecutor's comment "and if Mr. Poole wants to tell the state and Detective Grice that somebody helped him commit this crime, then let him come forward because...," while improper, did not merit mistrial because "in light of the evidence linking Poole to the crimes, the error was not "so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial").

Bright cites several cases supporting general propositions regarding comment on the failure to testify, but the only case in which he cites facts is *Brock v. State*, 446 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), where the prosecutor stated that "Today is the day he has to stand up and, 'fess to what happened and pay for what he did"). First, this comment was a much more direct comment regarding the defendant's failure to testify, telling the jury that the defendant was there to confess to his crimes.

More importantly, *Brock* preceded *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), which held that improper comments on the failure to testify are subject to harmless-error analysis. As such, *Brock* cannot support Bright's position.

Harmless error:

As noted above, *Poole* and *Dessaure* specifically hold that harmless-error analysis does not apply to this issue, because Bright simultaneously objected and moved for mistrial, but did not secure a ruling on his objection. This rule should apply with even greater force in this case, since the objection and mistrial motion did not occur contemporaneously with the disputed comment. While the court did not believe that the comment was sufficient to warrant a mistrial, there is no compelling reason to believe that it would not have sustained a curative instruction to the jury reminding them that the defendant had no duty to testify and that they could not draw unfavorable inferences from his failure to testify.

However, even if the objection was "effectively overruled" without an explicit ruling, <u>see</u> Salazar v. State, 991 So.2d 364 (Fla. 2008)(Pariente, J., specially concurring), there is "no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the

verdict." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at 1135.8 A single comment in closing argument that, at worst, only implies that the defendant should have testified, is only barely prejudicial. Moreover, even if the comment could reasonably be construed as a comment on Bright's failure to testify, it related only to an observation about the probative force of the testimony of Bright's witnesses, and not particularly compelling one at that. Bright's counsel himself, by choosing not to request a curative instruction in order to prevent "drawing attention" to the remark, must have believed that the comment escaped the jury's notice. These factors, combined with the strength of the State's case against Bright, demonstrate that the alleged error was relation everything else "unimportant in to the jury considered," and therefore, harmless. Bright has failed to demonstrate reversible error.

To say that an error did not "contribute to the ensuing verdict is not, of course, to say that the jury was totally unaware of that feature of the trial later held to have been erroneous. ... To say that an error did not contribute to the verdict is, rather, to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record.

⁸The *DiGuilio* standard, requiring the State to demonstrate "no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict," is taken directly from *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967). The Supreme Court clarified the *Chapman* standard in Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. 391, 403, 111 S.Ct. 1884, 1893 (1991) (disapproved of on other grounds by *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62 (1991)):

ISSUE II

DID \mathbf{THE} TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING AND WEIGHING BRIGHT'S TWO PRIOR VIOLENT CONVICTIONS AS SEPARATE AGGRAVATORS? (Restated)

Standard of review:

As a pure issue of law, standard of review is *de novo*.

Merits:

In this issue Bright claims that the court improperly doubled an aggravator. Improper doubling occurs when two separate aggravators rely on the same essential feature or aspect of the case or crime. *Spann v. State*, 857 So.2d 845 (Fla. 2003). Facts in any given case may support multiple aggravators as long as they are separate and distinct. When considering a claim of improper doubling, the focus is on the aggravators themselves, not on the overlapping facts. *Spann v. State*, 857 at 856.

To illustrate, if a defendant has been previously convicted of a violent felony and is on parole from that same felony at the time of the murder, it would be proper to find two aggravating circumstances; prior violent felony and under a sentence of imprisonment. *Rose v. State*, 787 So.2d 786, 801 (Fla. 2001). If, on the other hand, in addition to first degree murder, the defendant was found guilty of both robbery and burglary, it would be improper to split the "murder in the

course of a felony" aggravator into two separate aggravators: (1) murder in the course of a burglary and (2) murder in the course of a robbery. *Id*.

Bright claims that the trial court erred in finding and weighing Bright's two previous violent felony conviction as two separate aggravators. There are two places where this alleged error may be found. First, the trial judge noted in the sentencing order that he only allowed the state to present three aggravators to the jury (IV 714). Next, in the "aggravating circumstances" section of the sentencing order, the court listed three aggravating factors, two of which were based on Bright's prior violent felony convictions (IV 714-715).

Bright does not contend the trial judge erred in finding the "prior violent felony" aggravator (IB 38). Bright claims only that the trial judge should have considered and weighed both of Bright's previous convictions as one aggravator rather than two (IB 38). This claim can be denied for three reasons.

First, the issue was not preserved for appeal. Bright did not file a motion for rehearing or otherwise bring this alleged error to the trial court's attention. Had he done so, any error could have been resolved before this matter came before this Court. Instead, on the day of sentencing, Bright filed his notice of appeal (V 1040).

To be preserved for appeal, "the specific ground upon which a claim is based must be raised at trial and a claim different than that will not be heard on appeal." *Rodriguez v. State*, 609 So.2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992). Bright's failure to object to the sentencing order on the grounds the trial court improperly "doubled" the prior violent felony aggravator into two separate aggravators failed to preserve this issue for appeal. <u>See Spann</u> *v. State*, 857 So.2d 845, 856 (Fla. 2003).⁵

Second, this claim may also be denied because the record as a whole, including the written jury instructions, the instructions read to the jury, and the trial judge's oral pronouncements at the sentencing hearing, supports a finding the trial judge actually considered both of Bright's prior violent felony convictions as one aggravator, not two. In other words, while he wrote the order in a way that suggested he considered Bright's two prior violent felony convictions as two separate aggravators, there is record support for a finding that in fact, he considered and weighed them as one.

⁵This Court ruled in *Spann* that Spann's failure to object did not preserve the "improper doubling" error for appeal. However, without really explaining why, this Court did go on to consider and then reject the claim on the merits as well. *Spann*, 857 So.2d at 856. It is clear, however, that the reason is not because an improper doubling claim is fundamental error. This Court has held that improper doubling errors are subject to a harmless error analysis. *Armstrong v. State*, 642 So.2d 730, 739 (Fla. 1994).

During the jury instructions, the trial court instructed the jury on two aggravating factors, prior violent felony and HAC. The record reflects that the court instructed the jury as to Mr. King as follows:

> The aggravating circumstances that you consider are limited to any of the may following that are established by the evidence, first, substantially the same as to Count 1, that is, the death of Mr. Derrick King. First, the defendant has been previously convicted of another capital offense or of felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, the crime of murder in the first degree as to Mr. Raymond Bright is a capital offense. Secondly, the crime of armed robbery is a threat of felony involving the use or violence to another person.

> Secondly, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. ...

(VI 1023).

As to the murder of Mr. Brown, the court instructed the

jury as follows:

As to Count 2, the aggravators as to that count, that is, dealing with the death of Mr. Randall Brown, once again are the same, that is, the defendant has previously been convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use of threat or force of violence to the person, and I would instruct you again the crime of murder in the first degree only this time as to Mr. Derrick King as a capital offense and that the crime of robbery is a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person. And the <u>second</u> aggravator is the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel ...

(VI 1024)(emphasis supplied).

The written jury instructions in the record also support the position that the trial court instructed the jury on two aggravators (III 513-514). The written jury instructions found in the record list two aggravators for each victim; prior violent felony with both prior violent felonies listed under one aggravator and HAC (III 513-514).

During the sentencing proceeding, the trial court told the parties that he did not intend to read the sentencing order in its entirety but instead would provide the parties, including Bright personally, with a copy of the order which he had already prepared (VI 1057). The trial judge told the parties that his order thoroughly addressed "every fact dealing with aggravation and every fact that has been brought to my attention in mitigation," and "there are 22 different mitigators that I have considered, as well as the <u>two</u> statutory aggravators." *Id*. (emphasis supplied).

Although the sentencing order does suggest the trial court considered Bright's two prior violent felony convictions as two separate aggravators, all of the other relevant portions of the record support a finding the court did not actually improperly

double the prior violent felony aggravator into two. As such, this Court may deny the claim on the merits.

Third, even if this Court were to find the judge improperly doubled the prior violent felony aggravator, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no question the judge could properly consider and give great weight to both felony convictions, albeit under the umbrella of one aggravator.⁶ <u>See Lukehart v. State</u>, 776 So.2d 906 (Fla. 2000)(holding that improper doubling of victim under twelve years of age and murder in the course of aggravated child abuse aggravators was harmless because the fact the victim was under the age of 12 was properly considered in weighing the aggravating factor that the murder occurred while Lukehart was engaged in the commission of aggravated child abuse).

Any suggestion the error cannot be harmless because the judge weighed three aggravators rather than two, is without merit. Determining an appropriate sentence upon conviction for first degree murder is not a mere counting process of X number of aggravating circumstances and Y number of mitigating circumstances. Instead, capital sentencing requires the judge to engage in a reasoned judgment as to what factual situations

⁶This Court has ruled that prior violent convictions are among the most weighty in Florida. *Sireci v. Moore*, 825 So.2d 882, 887 (Fla. 2002)(noting that HAC and prior violent felony are some of the most weighty aggravators in Florida).

require the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances present. *Franqui v. State*, 804 So.2d 1185, 1194 (Fla. 2001). A review of the order reveals that is exactly what the trial judge did in this case.

Moreover, any error is harmless because the trial judge found the murders were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel and told the defendant the fact the murders were HAC was the most significant factor in his sentencing decision (V 1057-1058). As such, there is simply no reasonable possibility the trial judge's counting error was the difference between life and death. This Court should reject Bright's claim on appeal.

Finally, the only remedy for this error, if any, is remand for the judge to reweigh two aggravators, one of which will include consideration of both prior felony convictions, against the mitigation found to exist.

ISSUE III

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